ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Lexington County  
DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

NOV 12 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

ROBERT FLETCHER HERBERT,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001507

\_\_\_\_\_  
PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

ROBERT M. PACHAK  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether counsel was ineffective in failing to convey a plea offer?

## STATEMENT

On June 6, 2013, petitioner appeared before the Hon. Edward B. Cottingham in Lexington County and pled guilty to two counts of second degree burglary, intimidation of a witness, manufacture of a destructive device, arson in the third degree, and burglary in the third degree. An active sentence totaling twenty years was imposed. Sarah Hahn Maudlin, Esq. was plea counsel.<sup>1</sup> Angela Garrick, Esq. was the assistant solicitor. (App. p. 1-29)

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on November 12, 2013. (App. p. 30-p.38) An amended application dated June 2, 2014 was also filed. (App. p. 39-p. 42) Respondent filed a return dated April 28, 2014. (App. p. 43-p. 46) An evidentiary hearing was held on October 15, 2014, before the Hon. Deandrea G. Benjamin. Petitioner was present and was represented by Anna R. Good, Esq. Respondent was represented by Clay Mitchell, Assistant Attorney General. Both petitioner and plea counsel testified at the hearing. (App. p. 48-p. 86) On June 11, 2015, Judge Benjamin issued an order denying and dismissing petitioner's application for post-conviction relief. (App. p. 91-p. 99).

This petition follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> Matthew C. Buchanan had previously represented petitioner.

## ARGUMENT

### Counsel was ineffective in failing to convey a plea offer.

Petitioner through his post-conviction relief counsel alleged in his amended application that counsel Buchanan failed to relay a plea offer to him. (App. p. 4) At the evidentiary hearing he testified that Matthew Buchanan was his first attorney when he was arrested in April of 2012. He bonded out on that charge and was then re-arrested in July of 2012. Mr. Buchanan was still his attorney and he met with him on August 7 at the jail. (App. p. 52, line 12-p. 53, line 9) Eventually he moved to relieve Mr. Buchanan as his attorney because he wouldn't come up to the jail and talk about his case. On October 31 he wrote the clerk of court a letter stating if Mr. Buchanan did not come to see him, he was going to move to relieve him and he was going to file charges with the South Carolina Supreme Court. Counsel was later relieved. During the time Mr. Buchanan was his attorney, petitioner found out that a plea offer had been made. He did not find that out from his attorney. He said he found out about the plea offer when he wrote for his Rule 5 when he was sent to Perry Correctional Institution. He then identified Plaintiff's Exhibit #1 as the plea offer he had not received. (App. p. 53, line 20-p. 55, line 25) The plea offer was dated August 24, 2012, and had a cap of 15 years. It stated that the offer would expire if not accepted by October 1. (App. p. 87)

Petitioner testified that if he had known about the plea offer he would have accepted it. (App. p. 56, line 22-p.57, line 1) Petitioner said he was asking the court to overturn his guilty plea and remand his case specifically to give him the remedy of the prior plea offer. (App. p. 64, lines 4-8)

In Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E. 2d 419 (2009) the Supreme Court of South Carolina wrote:

A defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). This Court has held that a defendant has the right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process. Judge v. State, 321 S.C. 554, 471 S.E.2d 146 (1996), overruled on other grounds by Jackson v. State, 342 S.C. 95, 535 S.E.2d 926 (2000).

\* \* \*

In a PCR proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of establishing that he or she is entitled to relief. Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 109, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000). "In the context of a guilty plea, the court must determine whether 1) counsel's advice was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases i.e. was counsel's performance deficient, and 2) if there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty." Smith v. State, 369 S.C. 135, 138, 631 S.E.2d 260, 261 (2006) (citing Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56-58, 106 S.Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed.2d 203 (1985)).

The court in Davie went on to hold plea counsel ineffective in failing to convey a plea offer to his client. Plea counsel in petitioner's case should also be held ineffective.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner's writ should be granted.