STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lexington County
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015 – 001507
Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-32-3947

Robert Fletcher Herbert, #231709,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. CLAYTON MITCHELL
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar #101443

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAY 16 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Lexington County Clerk of Court. Petitioner was true bill indicted at the July 2012 term of the Lexington County Grand Jury on two counts of burglary, second degree (2012-GS-32-1452; -1454), intimidation of a witness (2012-GS-32-2176), manufacture of destructive device (2012-GS-32-2167), arson, third-degree (2012-GS-32-2166, and burglary, third-degree first offense (2013-GS-32-1259). Petitioner was initially represented by Matthew C. Buchanan, Esquire, and then by Sarah H. Mauldin, Esquire. On June 6, 2013, Petitioner pleaded guilty as indicted without negotiations or recommendations. The State was represented by Asst. Solicitor Angela Garrick, Esquire. The Honorable Edward B. Cottingham, Sr., sentenced Petitioner to ten (10) years' imprisonment on each burglary, second-degree violent charge, ten (10) years' imprisonment for intimidation of a witness, two (2) years' imprisonment for manufacture of destructive device; three (3) years' imprisonment for arson, and five (5) years' imprisonment for burglary, third-degree first offense. Excluding one burglary, second-degree violent charge, all sentences were to be served concurrently. Burglary, second-degree violent (2012-GS-32-1452) was to be served consecutively. Petitioner did not appeal his sentence or conviction.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on November 12, 2013. Respondent filed a Return on April 29, 2014. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 15, 2014, at the Lexington County Courthouse. Petitioner was represented by Anna R. Good, Esquire. The matter was reconvened on February 11, 2015, at the Richland County Courthouse where the court received testimony from Counsel Buchanan. The State was represented by J.

Clayton Mitchell of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office. The Honorable DeAndrea G. Benjamin issued an Order of Dismissal on June 22, 2015, denying relief.

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal on May 5, 2015. A Petition for Writ of Certiorari was filed on November 13, 2015. This Return follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

Certiorari is not warranted where Counsel Buchanan properly conveyed the fifteen year plea offer to Petitioner who rejected it multiple times.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Counsel was not ineffective in failing to convey a plea offer. Respondent submits the plea offer was conveyed to Petitioner who rejected it multiple times.

Relevant Law

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). With respect to guilty plea counsel, the Applicant must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

Discussion

Certiorari is not warranted where Counsel Buchanan conveyed the plea offer of fifteen (15) years to Petitioner multiple times. Generally, failure to convey a plea offer constitutes deficient performance. Davie v. State, 381 S.C. 601, 613, 675 S.E.2d 416, 422(2009). The PCR

Court discounted Petitioner's testimony and relied on Counsel Buchanan's testimony in making its ruling. (App. p. 97) ("Counsel Buchanan's testimony is persuasive on all issues . . . This Court finds Applicant's testimony to be not credible. This Court finds Counsel Buchanan properly conveyed the August 24, 2012, plea offer to Applicant multiple times."). Petitioner has not set forth any argument as to why the PCR court's credibility findings were erroneous or without support. "We give great deference to a judge's findings when matters of credibility are involved since we lack the opportunity to directly observe the witnesses." Solomon v. State, 313 S.C. 526, 443 S.E.2d 540, 542 (1994). The PCR Court's credibility findings are supported by the record. Petitioner's testimony was littered with inconsistencies. At the PCR hearing Petitioner testified he was not conveyed a plea offer by Counsel Buchanan. (App. p. 56, lines 2-13). He further testified Counsel Buchanan only met with him one time. (App. p. 56, lines 5-9). Counsel Buchanan testified at a later hearing that he conveyed and explained the offer to Petitioner on January 14th and February 11th of 2013. (Supp. App. p. 8, line 9 – p. 9, line 5).

To show prejudice from a failure to convey a plea offer, Respondent must demonstrate a reasonable probability he would have accepted the offer. Missouri v. Frye, ___ U.S. ___, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1409 (2012). There was no credible evidence presented to the PCR court that Petitioner would have accepted the fifteen year plea offer.